



Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Educational Master.

BLENDED LEARNING IN KENYAN HIGHER EDUCATION: EXPLORING EDUCATORS' BELIEFS AND PRACTICES

A qualitative study of educators' beliefs at Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology

JUL SCHOONEJANS & OLAF BOSSAER

Academic year 2024-2025

Promotors: Prof. dr. Jo Tondeur

Educative master



Total word count of the article: 16.678 words

Contributed to data collection: yes

Performed statistical analyses independently: yes

SEEN and APPROVED (date)

31/05/2025

Supervisor(s) of the master's thesis

100



Toestemmingsformulier openbaarmaking masterproef

Student: Jul Schoonejans & Olaf Bossaer

Rolnummer : 0566876 & 0621701 Opleiding : Educatieve master Academiejaar : 2024-2025

Masterproef

Titel: Blended learning in Kenyan higher education: exploring educators' beliefs and practices

Promotor: Prof. dr. Jo Tondeur

De masterproef waarvoor de student een credit behaalt, en waaromtrent geen 'non disclosure agreement' (NDA of geheimhoudingsovereenkomst) werd opgesteld, kan kosteloos worden opgenomen in de vubis-catalogus van de centrale universiteitsbibliotheek mits expliciete toestemming van de student.

De student kiest in het kader van de mogelijkheid tot kosteloze terbeschikkingstelling van zijn/haar masterproef volgende optie:

☐ ENKEL VANOP DE CAMPUS: enkel toegang tot de full tekst van de masterproef vanop het VUB-netwerk
 □ EMBARGO WAARNA OPEN ACCESS VOLGT: pas wereldwijde toegang tot de full tekst van de masterproef na een opgegeven datum, met name □ EMBARGO WAARNA ENKEL TOEGANG VANOP DE CAMPUS VOLGT: enkel vanop de campus toegang tot de full tekst van de masterproef na een opgegeven datum, met name □ FULL TEKST NOOIT TOEGANKELIJK: geen toegang tot de full tekst van de masterproef □ GEEN TOESTEMMING voor terbeschikkingstelling
De promotor bevestigt de kennisname van het voornemen van de student tot terbeschikkingstellin van de masterproef in de vubis-catalogus van de centrale universiteitsbibliotheek. Datum: 30/05/2025 Handtekening promotor:
Dit document wordt opgenomen in de masterproef. De student die het formulier niet voegt aan de masterproef en/of geen keuze heeft aangeduid en/of het formulier niet ondertekend heeft en/of geen kennisgeving aan de promotor heeft gedaan, wordt geacht geen toestemming tot openbaarmaking te verlenen; in dat geval zal de masterproef enkel worden gearchiveerd, maar is deze niet publiek toegankelijk.
Opgesteld te Brussel op 28/05/2025

Handtekening student

Jul Schoonejans

Olaf Bossaer



Table of contents

Abstract	7	
Introduction	8	
Background	8	
Beliefs	8	
Educators' beliefs about blended learning	9	
Blended learning practice and its challenges	10	
Motivation as a bridge between beliefs and practice	10	
Problem statement	11	
Purpose of the study	12	
Methods	12	
Participants	12	
Data collection	14	
Ethical considerations	15	
Interview guideline	15	
Data analysis	16	
Results	17	
Perceptions and views	17	
Influence of students	25	
Blended environment	29	
Pedagogical choices and teaching practices	31	
Way forward	33	
Perfect situation	36	
Discussion	38	
Conclusion		
References		

Abstract

This qualitative study explores the pedagogical beliefs of educators regarding blended learning at Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology (JOOUST) in Kenya. Blended learning, a combination of face-to-face and online instruction, is increasingly adopted in higher education worldwide. However, in resource-constrained contexts such as Kenya, the implementation of blended learning remains a complex process shaped by educators' beliefs, institutional infrastructure, and contextual challenges.

Through 21 semi-structured interviews with educators from diverse academic backgrounds, this study investigates how educators define and experience blended learning, and how their beliefs influence their teaching practices. Drawing on the Self-Determination Theory (SDT) as a conceptual lens, the research also considers how factors such as autonomy, competence, and relatedness affect the belief–practice relationship, and vice-versa.

Findings reveal that while many educators express social constructivist beliefs and hold positive attitudes toward blended learning, practical constraints (particularly infrastructural challenges) can hinder their ability to fully translate these beliefs into practice. Nevertheless, educators also recognize the practical and pedagogical advantages of blended learning, such as increased flexibility, inclusivity, and the potential to enhance student engagement. The study concludes by identifying areas for institutional support and professional development to enable more intentional and sustainable blended learning integration in Kenyan higher education.

Introduction

The learning environment has undergone significant transformation in recent years, largely accelerated by the COVID-19 pandemic. In less than half a decade, traditional face-to-face classrooms have given way to digital alternatives, leading to the rise of online learning (García-Morales et al., 2021). While the most immediate effects of the pandemic have subsided, the education landscape continues to evolve. We are now witnessing a hybrid approach that blends face-to-face and online learning; a model known as blended learning.

Blended learning is widely recognized as an approach that integrates both face-to-face instruction and online learning. Graham (2006) defines it as "the combination of face-to-face instruction with computer-mediated instruction" (p. 5), while Garrison and Kanuka (2004) describe it as "the thoughtful integration of classroom face-to-face learning experiences with online learning experiences" (p. 96). These definitions emphasize that both face-to-face and online elements are essential in a blended learning environment.

Many universities and higher education institutions have also acknowledged the importance of this approach, since they are "designing strategic plans and taking diverse actions to implement and spread the use of blended learning methodologies" (Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2019, p. 177). However, although it is ever more being used in higher education, blended learning remains challenging, due to factors such as institutional challenges (like access to technology), design issues (like balancing online and face-to-face learning), and, not the least important (as this study will further develop), the educators' beliefs about blended learning (Bruggeman et al., 2022).

Background

Beliefs

As just mentioned above, the success of blended learning depends not only on institutional policies and technological infrastructure but also on how educators interpret and integrate it into their daily practice. Without a clear understanding of these beliefs, efforts to enhance blended learning may fail to address their actual needs and expectations, leading to ineffective interventions.

In essence, educators' beliefs shape their teaching behaviour, and vice versa. Drawing on an early study about teachers' thought processes, Clark and Peterson (1986) distinguished three categories: planning (1), interactive decision making (2), and theories and beliefs (3).

This last category, which this study focusses on, "represents the rich store of knowledge teachers have that affects their planning and their interactive thoughts and decisions" (p. 11). This kind of knowledge is also called 'propositional knowledge', has been defined even earlier by Rokeach (1969) as "any simple proposition, conscious or unconscious, inferred from what a person says or does, capable of being preceded by the phrase 'I believe that…'" (p. 113).

Apparent from other literature, the concept of 'beliefs' is actually not easily defined. However, four key aspects on which there is sufficient consensus can still be identified among researchers. Skott (2014, p. 19) sums it up as follows: "... there is a common core to the concept of teachers' beliefs in the literature. The term is used to designate individual, subjectively true (1), value-laden (2) mental constructs that are the relatively stable results of substantial social experiences (3) and that have significant impact on one's interpretations of and contributions to classroom practice (4)."

Given the present study's focus on higher education, the scope will be refined from teachers' beliefs in general to the beliefs of educators. Unlike primary or secondary school teachers, higher educators often have less formal pedagogical training, which may shape their beliefs about teaching and learning. The educators typically specialize in their academic disciplines rather than in teaching methodologies, which can impact their instructional beliefs and practices (Postareff et al., 2007).

Educators' beliefs about blended learning

A review of previous studies on educators' beliefs about blended learning reveals several noteworthy insights. Sanchez-Gomez et al. (2019) found that educators identified beliefs about both advantages and disadvantages of blended learning. They noted benefits such as improved management of information, greater accessibility to practical case studies, and the strengthening of digital competences. At the same time, they pointed out challenges like the absence of face-to-face contact, low student motivation, and high dropout rates. Furthermore, Culbertson (2018) found that educators believed the transition to blended learning could be more effective if students had better access to technology during and after school hours. A lack of technological innovation was seen as a significant obstacle to successful implementation. Culbertson also concluded that when students are more engaged with their learning, an outcome that can be supported by the effective implementation of blended learning as a tool, they are more likely to stay in school through to graduation, highlighting the evaluative potential of blended learning.

This said, as the blended learning approach gains prominence, understanding educators' beliefs regarding blended learning and their motivation to implement it in their classroom practices becomes crucial to its successful adoption (Sánchez-Gómez et al., 2019).

Blended learning practice and its challenges

As mentioned above, the implementation of blended learning presents both opportunities and challenges for educators worldwide. While it offers flexibility, increased access to learning resources, and the potential for more student-centered instruction, it also comes with technological, pedagogical, and institutional hurdles. Educators often face difficulties in adapting their teaching strategies, ensuring student engagement, and navigating digital infrastructure limitations (Graham, 2018). Additionally, disparities in internet connectivity, access to digital devices, and institutional support can hinder the effective integration of blended learning, particularly in resource-constrained settings (Cleveland-Innes & Wilton, 2018), which remains also true in several East-African contexts. Research conducted in Tanzania, for example, has highlighted key barriers such as inadequate digital infrastructure, limited internet connectivity, and a shortage of faculty training programs to support blended learning implementation (Mtebe & Raphael, 2018).

Although recent initiatives aimed at improving digital access, as research at Makerere University in Uganda suggests (Omedo et al., 2024), persistent infrastructural and technological challenges continue to affect educators' motivation and ability to implement blended learning effectively. As a result, there may be a misalignment between educators' teaching practices and their underlying pedagogical beliefs.

Motivation as a bridge between beliefs and practice

Other research suggests that beliefs not only shape educators' perceptions of teaching practices but also influence their motivation to implement them (Fives & Buehl, 2011). In other words, while beliefs provide a cognitive framework for evaluating blended learning, motivation determines the extent to which educators act on these beliefs. To explore this connection, this study draws on the Self-Determination Theory (SDT), a framework developed by Richard Ryan and Edward Deci. In their work on intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behaviour (Ryan & Deci, 1985), they identified three fundamental components that drive intrinsic motivation (O'Hara, 2017). The first component, autonomy, reflects an individual's capacity to take initiative and regulate their own behaviour in pursuit of personal goals. Competence, the second component, highlights the importance of developing new skills and mastering tasks, which fosters a sense of accomplishment and motivation. Finally, relatedness

underscores the intrinsic motivation derived from meaningful connections and a sense of belonging with others. Understanding these components offers valuable insights into the interplay between educators' beliefs, their motivation, and therefore their willingness to embrace blended learning environments in practice.

By examining educators' motivation through the lens of Self-Determination Theory (SDT), this study aims to establish a connection between educators' belief and the ways in which these beliefs are implemented in teaching practices. Specifically, the three core components of SDT (autonomy, competence, and relatedness) will provide insight into the underlying reasons and factors that drive educators to translate their beliefs into these concrete classroom actions. Many existing studies, including those by Orsini et al. (2015) and Chen and Jang (2010), primarily focus on examining the intrinsic motivation of students, with limited attention given to the perspectives of educators. This highlights a significant gap in the literature, as most research centres on student motivation while overlooking the critical role of educators' motivation and how this is related to the implementation of blended learning in practice. Given that educators' motivation, as previously discussed, has a direct and significant impact on student motivation, this study aims to further explore this perspective.

Problem statement

Despite growing global interest in blended learning and its pedagogical potential, little is known about how educators in East African higher education settings, particularly in Kenya, perceive and engage with it. While previous studies, such as Bruggeman et al. (2021) in the Belgian context, have examined the relationship between educators' beliefs and their use of blended learning, the actual implementation of blended learning in resource-constrained settings, like East Africa, remains understudied.

Infrastructural and technological constraints in these settings not only hinder practical implementation but also influence educators' motivation, an essential factor in translating pedagogical beliefs into practice (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Orsini et al., 2015). Additionally, most research in this domain focuses on students rather than educators, overlooking the complex interplay between educators' beliefs, motivation, and teaching strategies in under-resourced contexts. This study addresses these gaps by focusing on educators' experiences with blended learning in Kenyan higher education.

Purpose of the study

The purpose of this study is to explore educators' pedagogical beliefs about blended learning in the Kenyan higher education context. It investigates how educators perceive, interpret, and negotiate their use of blended learning within environments marked by infrastructural and technological limitations.

As part of this exploration, Self-Determination Theory (SDT) is used as a lens to help explain how motivation may influence the extent to which educators implement their beliefs in practice. Rather than being a central focus, motivation serves as a useful conceptual tool to understand the belief–practice relationship in resource-constrained settings.

To guide this purpose, the following research questions have been formulated: (1) What are Kenian educators' beliefs about blended learning? (2) How are the Kenian educators' beliefs and practice related to one another (through an SDT-approach)? (3) What are the future perspectives for blended learning in East-African context?

Methods

This study aims to gain deeper insight into educators' beliefs about blended learning. To explore these beliefs thoroughly, a method was chosen that allows for an in-depth examination of educators' thought processes concerning this specific subject. Therefore, a qualitative research design is employed. Qualitative research is particularly well-suited for accessing individuals' internal experiences, including their beliefs, motivations, and thought processes (Corner et al., 2019). As Oranga and Matere (2023, p.8) explain: "qualitative research helps gain a complex and rich understanding of a specific context or phenomenon."

Additionally, the study will consider the role of motivation as a secondary factor, using Self-Determination Theory (SDT) as a theoretical lens. SDT provides a valuable framework for understanding the intrinsic drivers, such as autonomy, competence, and relatedness, that may shape educators' beliefs about blended learning and help explain potential variations in their perspectives.

Participants

This study employed a non-random purposive sampling strategy, selecting educators from Jaramogi Oginga Odinga University of Science and Technology (JOOUST), a public university located in Bondo, Kenya. JOOUST is known for its progressive approach to technology within

the Kenyan context, making it a suitable institution for conducting this study. All participants were actively engaged in blended learning practices within their teaching. In purposive sampling, participant selection is guided by the researcher's understanding of who can provide the most relevant and meaningful insights for the research objectives (Oranga & Matere, 2023). The primary criterion for inclusion in the study was that participants were currently implementing blended learning in their educational practice. To ensure a broad representation of perspectives, efforts were made to include diversity in gender, age, educational role, and field of expertise.

A total of 21 educators participated in the study, comprising 11 men and 10 women. Their ages ranged from 26 to 75 years, with one participant in the 26–35 age group, six in the 36–45 group, six in the 46–55 group, seven in the 56–65 group, and one participant in the 66–75 age range. The sample also reflected a variety of academic roles, including educators, educator/deans, educator/directors, and one blended learning trainer.

The participants' fields of expertise were equally diverse. Seven educators specialized in IT and ICT (including health IT), two in agriculture, two in engineering, two in spatial planning, and two in education (encompassing mathematics, physics, and business). Other areas of expertise included linguistics, mathematics, biology, botany, and health and development.

In terms of teaching experience, all participants had a minimum of five years in the profession, ensuring that their perspectives were grounded in substantial classroom practice. Experience levels ranged widely, from as little as 7 years to over 30 years. Some educators reported over 30 years of experience, while others had mid-career experience ranging from 14 to 25 years, and a few were in the early stages of their academic careers with less than 10 years of teaching experience. But it ass

This diverse profile of participants allowed for a rich exploration of the beliefs, motivations, and practices related to blended learning within a single institutional context, contributing to a deeper understanding of its implementation in a public university setting in Kenya. A summary of demographic characteristics for each participant is presented in the table (Table 1: Participant demographics) beneath.

Educator	Gender	Age, between (years old)	Educational role	Field of expertise
E01	F	46-55	Educator	Linguistics
E02	M	36-45	Educator	Mathematics
E03	F	36-45	Educator	IT
E04	F	36-45	Educator	ICT (health IT)
E05	F	26-35	Educator	Logictics
E06	M	46-55	Educator	IT
E07	M	56-64	Educator/Dean	IT
E08	M	46-54	Educator/Director	IT
E09	M	36-45	Educator	IT
E10	F	56-65	Educator	Agriculture
E11	F	46-55	Educator/Dean	Health and Development
E12	F	56-64	Educator/Dean	Botany
E13	M	66-75	Educator/Dean	Engineering
E14	F	46-55	Educator/Director	Spatial planning
E15	M	56-65	Educator	Engineering
E16	M	56-65	Educator/Dean Blended learning trainer	Business and Economics
E17	M	56-65 (63)	Educator/Dean	Education
E18	М	56-65	Educator/Director	Biology
E19	M	46-5	Educator/Dean	Agriculture
E20	M	56-65	Educator/Director	Spatial planning
E21	F	56-65	Educator	IT

Table 1. Participant demographics

Data collection

The study employed in-depth, semi-structured interviews as the primary method of data collection. These interviews were guided by a predetermined interview protocol that focused on educators' beliefs and perceptions regarding blended learning. The semi-structured format

allowed for consistency across interviews while also providing the flexibility to explore emerging themes and individual perspectives in greater depth.

This method was chosen because open-ended questions enable participants to express themselves freely and provide rich, detailed responses in their own words (Oranga & Matere, 2023). Unlike structured questionnaires, which may limit the depth of insight, semi-structured interviews allow for a more nuanced and human-centered exploration of the topic (Tscholl et al., 2019). The flexibility of this approach facilitated the collection of complex and meaningful data that would be valuable in the subsequent analysis.

The interviews were audio-recorded with participants' consent, then transcribed and anonymized to ensure confidentiality. A total of 21 face-to-face interviews were conducted, lasting on average 30 minutes and 54 seconds. All interviews took place in settings that were comfortable and convenient for the participants, and were conducted in English. Although no formal pilot testing was conducted, the interview guideline was reviewed by a blended learning expert to ensure its relevance and clarity.

Ethical considerations

Before data collection began, ethical approval was obtained from the relevant ethics committees of the participating institutions involved in this cross-institutional study. All procedures were conducted in accordance with ethical standards for research involving human participants.

Prior to the data collection, participants were provided with an information sheet detailing the purpose of the study, their role, and their rights. Prior to their participation, written informed consent was obtained. Participation was entirely voluntary, and all participants were informed of their right to withdraw from the study at any stage without any consequences.

To ensure confidentiality, all data, including audio recordings and interview transcripts, were securely stored and pseudonymized. Identifying details were removed during transcription, and only the research team had access to the raw data. All ethical and data protection measures were followed throughout the research process to ensure that privacy and integrity were maintained across all participating institutions.

Interview guideline

To explore educators' beliefs regarding blended learning, a semi-structured interview guideline was developed. The guideline consisted of a total of 20 open-ended questions, structured around four key themes: background information, educators' beliefs about blended learning, which is the key are of the interview guideline, motivation (based on Self-Determination

Theory), and closing reflections. This format ensured consistency across interviews while allowing space for individual perspectives to emerge.

The questions were carefully designed to encourage participants to reflect on their experiences, perceptions, and internal drivers related to blended learning. Topics included how educators define and implement blended learning, the perceived advantages and challenges they associate with it, and the degree to which they feel supported or autonomous in their teaching context. Drawing on Self-Determination Theory, the interviews also explored aspects such as educators' sense of autonomy, competence, and relatedness in relation to blended learning. The final section invited participants to share their ideal vision for blended learning and any additional thoughts they wished to express.

While all interviews were flexible in structure, certain questions were marked as essential and were consistently asked in every interview to maintain coherence across the dataset. Examples of such questions include: "What does blended learning mean to you?", "If you had complete control, what would an ideal blended learning environment look like for you?" and "What advantages and challenges or disadvantages have you experienced with blended learning?" These questions served to anchor the interviews in the core themes of the study, while still allowing for the richness and variability of individual experiences to be captured.

Data analysis

For the data processing in this study, it was crucial to follow a fixed framework to ensure consistency in data handling and to prevent confusion and erroneous analyses. The interviews were fully transcribed and subsequently processed using NVivo, a specialized software for qualitative data analysis. NVivo was selected for its suitability in managing large qualitative datasets and its robust capabilities for supporting inductive coding processes. All transcriptions were read twice to check for errors and to become familiar with the dataset. The transcriptions of all interviews were analysed thematically. Thematic analysis of qualitative data involves identifying, examining, and reporting specific patterns and themes within the dataset (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This approach provides flexibility in analysing data in various ways while keeping the research objective central (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

During the analysis, inductive coding was applied, meaning that codes were derived directly from the data, without relying on pre-established categories. This coding process was applied consistently across all transcripts. In total, 30 codes and 44 subcodes were generated, which later formed the basis for the development of six overarching themes. The coded transcripts were reviewed twice to ensure the accurate and consistent assignment of relevant codes to appropriate themes. Once the themes were established, the results could be reported.

Throughout the analysis, continuous notes were taken to maintain an overview of the codes, ensuring a smooth allocation to themes. It is also important to mention that the data was analysed across the entire dataset, meaning that the 21 interviews were considered as a whole and analysed collectively.

Results

In the following results section, the themes that emerged from the generated codes will be discussed using direct quotes from the educators, offering insight into each theme, while authentically representing their experiences and viewpoints. This section is structured in six parts, each corresponding to a key thematic area identified during the analysis.

The first part explores the *general beliefs* (1) of JOOUST educators about blended learning. The second part focuses on the *influence of students* (2), while the third part examines the *blended infrastructure* (3), or the institutional and technological environment in which educators work. The fourth part then presents the theme of *pedagogical choices and teaching practice* (4), which will be influenced by the insights from the previous three themes. The fifth part outlines the educators' perspectives on the *way forward* (5) for blended learning, and the sixth and final part highlights their views on the *ideal blended learning environment* (6), which is their vision of what an optimal blended learning experience should look like.

Perceptions and views

This broad theme captures the educators' overall perceptions and views about blended learning. It includes their attitudes toward the approach, perceived advantages and disadvantages, and how they define and interpret blended learning within their teaching context at JOOUST.

Definition of blended learning (according to the educators)

When asked how they envisage the idea of blended learning, most educators defined it as a combination of two learning environments: a "hybrid of purely online and physical," as E09 described it, where it "involves use of physical learning and some sort of learning that is supported by technology." In essence, "some of the educators' classes are going to be physical, and others are going to be online. So, they're the same cohort, same students, but some sessions can be taught online, some sessions can be offline" (E21), simple as that.

Although the educators' definitions of blended learning were quite similar, demonstrating a shared understanding of what the concept entails, their beliefs (as this part will reveal) differ across several important aspects.

Teaching philosophy

First, before exploring the educators' beliefs about blended learning, it was important to gain a clear understanding of their general teaching philosophy. This understanding provides valuable context for why certain beliefs among educators are sometimes very similar and, at other times, markedly different.

One recurring teaching philosophy, mentioned by nearly half of the participants, emphasized the importance of pragmatism and student-centred learning. One educator from the School of Business and Economics (SBE) (E16) described it as follows:

My teaching philosophy hinges upon ensuring, as I teach these students, that I give them the practical aspects of the courses that I teach. I know the theories in management accounting and all that, but then how do we apply them in real world? It is my belief that when you teach a student, there are certain core things that you must implant in a student for them to succeed out there. As you teach them, you must teach them about integrity. As you teach them, you must teach them about professionalism.

As E16's statement already suggested, the teaching philosophy among educators is often not only learner-centred, but also deeply focused on "empowering the students to achieve their full potential in life" (E12). This idea of supporting (or even empowering) students through teaching was reflected in multiple ways across the interviews, whether through "fairness" (E11), "an all-inclusive education approach" (E18), "using different sources" (E09), or "solving challenges within the community" (E15).

One educator (E17) went a step further by explicitly linking the importance of blended learning to his pragmatist, learner-centred teaching philosophy:

I believe in pragmatism. So, I also value, for teaching, a learner-centred approach, where I believe that the learner has something that he knows, and we start from that and build on it. The blended learning will help them to construct the ideas within themselves because they can look for the information. They don't depend on the teacher as the source of knowledge.

Thus, as blended learning appears to help some educators apply their teaching philosophy more effectively, it becomes particularly interesting to explore what other advantages they associate with blended learning, advantages that may (in)directly influence or be influenced by their broader teaching philosophies.

Advantages of blended learning

One of the first advantages typically mentioned by the educators, distinguishing blended learning from both purely physical and purely online learning, is the flexibility it offers: educators can decide at any given time whether to deliver a class physically or online. Given their dual roles as lecturers and researchers, research obligations sometimes interfere with their teaching schedules. When they are not physically present at the university, educators can opt for an online class instead of cancelling or rescheduling. Conversely, when a class is heavily practical, having access to university facilities makes it easier to choose a face-to-face session. As E05 concluded, this flexibility benefits not only the educators but also the students, because "you can have your class from anywhere, and students can also join that class from anywhere."

Associated with flexibility is the notion of convenience. As E16 stated: "I can sit in the comfort of my sitting room and teach my students across the world." For many educators, the option of teaching online from time to time without having to be physically present at the university is very appealing. Additionally, as E21 pointed out, there is another convenience attached to online teaching: "The advantage is that I do less of the work. The students do more of the work."

Alongside flexibility and convenience, another frequently mentioned advantage is the reduction in (transportation) costs. Educators highlighted that they "don't have to physically move, which is optimizing on transportation costs" (E05). Moreover, as E13 noted: "The world is changing, and it is giving us an opportunity which is less costly to interact in a global way." However, it is important to recognize that only the combination of both online and physical teaching leads to cost-effectiveness. Outside of university-provided facilities, students often lack free Wi-Fi access and must purchase data bundles to participate in online classes.

Together, these three arguments (flexibility, convenience, and cost) highlight the practical efficiency of blended learning in terms of optimizing the use of time and space. As E18 put it: "I think about saving time. Because when I'm abroad, I continue teaching my students online. And when I'm local, I teach them in the class, physically." Similarly, E08 emphasized that distance should guide the decision between online and face-to-face teaching: "The students live in the hostels, or they live around here. So most often it doesn't make sense to teach them remotely because they come to the class." On the other hand, E13 pointed out

that an online option can be a solution when necessary: "Maybe I go to another country or somewhere away from Bondo, like Nairobi, and I don't want my students to miss the class. So, I tell them, can we organize an online class in the evening?"

Besides the practical advantages of blended learning, several educators also highlighted its pedagogical benefits. For the online component, E16 argued (as did E11) that "when you teach online, you tend to cover more [content] than when you are in class." Similarly, E08 noted that online teaching allows you to "tap into a wider audience," because you are no longer "limited with those within the surrounding." Although the ability to reach a broader audience addresses the practical efficiency of online learning again, it also promotes greater inclusivity. As E12 pointed out, sharing online learning materials enables students to learn at their own pace: "Some of the online learning materials you can also share with the students. At the same time, the students can also learn at their own pace." E12 further explained the inclusivity of the online environment:

It is very flexible, so that even students who are working during the weekdays can have the opportunity to advance their education during the weekends or even during the evening hours or at any one time that they are free. So, it is a way of inclusivity, leaving no one behind, in terms of advancing their knowledge.

This argument about inclusivity not only applies to learning pace but also to the different types of learners within a class, such as shier students—referred to by E03 as "the keyboard warriors." E09 similarly argued that online forums "can engage the introvert," while E17 noted: "The good thing with the online, they are free to ask anything. Because sometimes there are students who are shy when they look at you. But when they are behind the screen, they can ask any question."

Although the educators did not highlight many specific pedagogical advantages for the face-to-face component, they did emphasize the importance of direct interaction, particularly in more practical courses. As E12 explained:

At times when people don't give you feedback, you may feel like you are not teaching. So that touch, the face-to-face touch at times is really motivating. Because you are seeing the responses, the non-verbal cues that motivate you as an educator.

Thus, while both online and face-to-face learning have distinct advantages, several educators recognized the strength of blended learning in combining these approaches ('pedagogical complementarity'). As E09 put it:

Online learning improves my methods of teaching. I tend to think that through design, I would do it better when I do it online, because I would get emerging technologies, and when I marry that or when I mix that with physical teaching, it will be the best.

E14 also saw this advantage, noting that blended learning allows you to "differentiate the learner space," making it once again a more inclusive way for people to learn at "different capabilities" (E03).

Disadvantages of blended learning

Of course, where there are advantages, there are also disadvantages. This is no different for the blended learning environment. For blended learning to be effective, both the physical and online components must be properly utilized. However, as the educators revealed during the interviews, the online learning environment remains a delicate issue, both because of its relatively recent introduction compared to traditional face-to-face teaching and due to the specific local context at JOOUST.

Regarding the online environment, almost all educators pointed to internet connectivity as the main challenge at JOOUST, or as E09 clearly put it:

Internet is a problem. There's a program from the national government that was meant to power all universities and all secondary schools with free internet. However, we've had the cable dropped out, it terminated somewhere in Bondo.

Because of this persistent connectivity issue, additional problems arise, such as "being disconnected from the students," which leads to lecturers "buying your own internet as a lecturer" (E08), or students "running out of [data] bundles, because we don't have hotspots all over" (E21), or even "people shying away from online or blended learning, because of the lack of proper infrastructure" (E03).

The issue of internet connectivity is closely linked to another major challenge highlighted by most educators: the financial problem. When discussing the online environment, several related issues emerged. As E06 explained, "from this other part of the world, at times,

even affording a proper smartphone becomes difficult for students, let alone a good laptop," or "if you cannot afford the data, then it becomes a challenge to you." E05 was very honest about the situation as well: "I was once a student here and I really did not like online classes because I didn't have money to buy bundles. So, I preferred somebody to come to class because I'm already in campus."

In this sense, internet connectivity and financial constraints are almost two sides of the same problem. From time to time, when internet connection is unavailable, "students have to use their own resources," which is "quite expensive" for them (E18), leading to a situation where they "automatically begin to log off" during an online class (E04). Conversely, financial limitations also impact infrastructure maintenance. Due to the local context, including frequent power fluctuations and failures, JOOUST has "lost equipment for the last three years, worth more than five million" (E08), making a stable internet connection even more difficult to guarantee.

This last argument from E08 uncovers another issue frequently mentioned by the JOOUST educators, one that is also closely tied to the financial problem: the lack of equipment. As already noted, the local context is a major challenge for the university in acquiring and maintaining proper facilities. However, the difficulties are not only caused by local factors such as power fluctuations in Bondo; broader global inequalities also play a role. As E13 succinctly put it: "The machines, these things, most of the online methods may be there, but we in third world countries, we are not endowed with these kinds of facilities, like virtual labs or these types of things."

Still, most educators, like E14, primarily referred to their students when discussing the lack of equipment:

The disadvantage on my side, basically, is our students: they lack laptops, or some of them don't have phones that they are able to use. But you use it as an advantage, almost, so you can work. Three or four students can join. And that is an advantage, but from their perspective, they are joining three or four of them, because they don't have the right, not each one of them has the right laptop, or the right phone, or something like that.

Although the challenges described above mostly concern the online learning environment, one comment from E16 summarized how these issues also affect the physical environment:

If the students come here and there's no Wi-Fi, you'd rather listen to your lecture in the house. And the disadvantage with that is that it denies the

students that aura of being within the campus. Because, when you are within the campus, there's something so different. Whilst at those places where the students stay, there's a lot of disturbances, the movement's all over. There are no restrictions. But at the campus, there are [good] restrictions.

Since students may no longer be willing to come to campus (E08) due to issues such as internet disconnections or lacking infrastructure, the problem of self-commitment has also been highlighted by several educators, particularly regarding online learning. E04 put it bluntly: "It takes a lot of discipline for a student to be keen online, when an online class is going on," while E05 added that online learning "encourages laziness." Additional challenges were raised, such as the inability to control students' participation: "You cannot control students when they decide to join a class, they log in when they want, they log out when they want" (E18), and concerns that "students are taking advantage of e-learning, just staying at home" (E16).

However, as E03 pointed out, the issue of self-commitment is not only on the students' side: educators also need to remain committed to effective online teaching. As E03 explained: "It is somehow disadvantageous because now that strips away the standards. You'd find a teacher who has just sent a Word document and is not meeting the students at all. So, in some way, the student is losing."

Closely related to this issue of self-commitment is the concern about credibility (and ownership), which several educators also raised. Students, for instance, increasingly take advantage of AI tools, even during exams (E15). Moreover, as E20 mentioned, "you're not sure whether they're doing the work," and E02 warned that "somebody can impersonate, and maybe do the work for the other candidates."

For educators, credibility regarding their own work also appeared to be an important issue. As E06 noted, educators are wary of "issues like plagiarism, issues of patent, and IP, the intellectual property." E03 captured this concern vividly:

There are those who feel like it is my brain, it is my work, if I share it and so many people are accessing it, I'm going to lose my value, I'm going to lose my role. So, most people prefer to just put their cuts online, but not their content. They bring in the copyright issues.

Finally, as was already mentioned as an advantage for the physical learning environment, the interaction and communication with students through online learning was often viewed as a disadvantage by most educators, mainly due to the lack of feedback. They missed "the non-

verbal cues" (E12) and "the exact face-to-face advantage" (?). Furthermore, understanding issues may arise because regular communication is disrupted by the computer interface. E11, for example, described the following pitfall from her perspective as an educator:

Sometimes the danger when you move fast, you're not too sure that they're following, that they're working with you. You may have a lesson, and at the end probably they didn't understand a lot because you are not meeting them all, so you don't know whether they understood everything to the end.

It is not only individual educators who experience these challenges; some schools face additional difficulties based on the nature of their disciplines. The School of Engineering and Technology (SET), for instance, encountered specific obstacles, as explained by E13:

Blended learning for us, for engineering particularly, is that engineering is behind. Because when it [blended learning] was started, these methods were for communication [studies]. But engineering has many languages. In engineering, we don't use only one language, the language of talking. We also use the language of drawing. So, if you teach them online, their understanding is low, because I'm using poor facilities, I tend to just talk.

Attitudes toward blended learning

Another topic that most educators were quite certain about was the general attitude toward blended learning—both how it is perceived now and how it should be approached. Despite the previously mentioned challenges, and precisely because of the many advantages, educators emphasized that blended learning must be embraced, or simply because "looking at the way the technology is moving, we have no choice other than to embrace it" (E07).

This attitude marks a significant shift compared to the past, as E16 recalled: "Initially, when this thing was coming, there was a lot of resistance." Now, all educators interviewed displayed a positive attitude toward blended learning, although sometimes cautiously, particularly regarding the online component. For example, E15 reflected:

I would say that online learning is something that should be embraced. But we should also be conscious of the current technological advancement, especially the use of the advancement in the field of AI, artificial intelligence. And then we see how we can bring all this together to accept and use those facilities and opportunities in a way that will strengthen [education].

Others were less cautious. E19 pointed out: "Some people still believe in the manual, face-to-face. They should learn to change." E16 summarized the general mindset even more equitably by stating: "You must be willing and ready to learn."

It is important to note that the responsibility for a positive attitude does not rest solely on educators. As already discussed under the theme of self-commitment, it also applies to students, since "both the lecturer and the student are the users of technology" (E07). As E16 emphasized, "when everybody embraces something, it becomes so easy, the success becomes flawless."

Even though challenges and disadvantages remain, all educators expressed a fairly optimistic outlook for the future. Many recognized how much progress had already been made. As E08 and E20 honestly stated, respectively: "It was a mess, it was a disaster initially, but we picked up," and "it's better than 10 years ago, far much better, because the online works actually in Kenya, it became just popular in 2020 during the COVID."

However, some educators, like E03, acknowledged that there is still work to be done: "But if we can follow these policies and have structures in place on how to do this blended learning, I think it can work very well."

Ultimately, most educators seemed to agree with the succinct view expressed by E09: "[Blended learning] should be a thing of the past. We just need to look at how to improve on it."

Influence of students

In addition to educators' perceptions and views, a second key factor influencing their pedagogical choices and teaching practices is the role of students. The decisions educators make are often closely shaped by their students' needs, behaviours, and levels of engagement. As such, the influence of students emerges as a significant theme that warrants focused attention in this study.

Interaction with the students

Of course, a big part of the influence that students have on educators comes from their interaction within the blended learning environment. It's a topic that many educators brought up, as it plays a major role in how students affect both the motivation of educators and the decisions they make when designing and experiencing their blended learning environment.

The face-to-face interaction, or as some educators called it, the old-fashioned way of teaching, was frequently mentioned and forms the first part of this theme on interaction. Most educators believe that "as an educator, face-to-face is the best" (E07). This belief was echoed by the majority of interviewees. They indicated that in a face-to-face setting, you "get that close interaction with the students" (E01), which they appreciated because it allows them to observe both verbal and non-verbal cues that show if "they're not getting anything of the course" (E11). It's these "responses, the non-verbal cues that motivates you as an educator" (E12).

Besides this, face-to-face interaction also opens up different perspectives on the educator's role. As E21 indicated: "When you're face-to-face you take on so many roles apart from just being the teacher. You can take on the role of a mentor for some of them." Several educators valued this broader role that emerges through direct, in-person engagement with students.

However, face-to-face interaction isn't always ideal. Some educators noted its downsides as well. For instance, E03 shared: "When you're doing something in class and you don't get feedback, everybody is quiet, it's very discouraging."

While most educators preferred face-to-face engagement, some also acknowledged the value of online interaction with students. One educator mentioned:

"It really motivates me mostly when the students engage me online. Because in every course I teach online, I have a place for questions where the students are able to ask questions. So they engage me on areas they don't understand, and they ask questions" (E16).

Some educators had successfully created online environments that foster meaningful interaction, using tools like WhatsApp groups and e-learning platforms. As E02 explained: "With the WhatsApp group, the students are able to post real time questions. At the same time, on the e-learning platform, there is the part for the students to give questions. In fact, it makes them excited." There is a clear need for platforms like these, where students and educators can connect in motivating and responsive ways. E01 summarized this insight in the following citate:

"You really need to be able to put that information on the platform in a way in which the students can interact. And then create the discussion forums, create all those for these students to be able to communicate with you, especially those who are distance learners."

But in reality, as many educators pointed out, this kind of online interaction doesn't always work as intended. Several participants mentioned clear disadvantages to engaging with students in an online setting. In such environments, "at times that environment already create some mental blocks" (E01). Educators observed that many students are simply not very engaged during online sessions. As E04 explained, "the students will just log in and probably do their own things. So, when you begin to ask questions, then you notice that certain students are not even keen."

This lack of engagement can become demotivating for educators. One participant shared that online teaching "can be very demotivating sometimes. Especially when you start with 100 students and you finish with 20 students. Then you feel these are people who are not serious" (E18). However, the issue may not always stem from student interest alone. Technical challenges, such as poor connectivity, also play a role. Due to 'network issues', both students and educators "want to contribute, but you just are not able to" (E05). This educator also pointed out that these recurring obstacles can shape one's preference for either online or face-to-face teaching:

Yes, I like the physical one because how do I call it? The relationship is positive when we are having physical classes. You can see my reaction, the facial expressions, as opposed to online where sometimes you really want to express yourself but the network is not there so you are stuck.

Apart from viewing face-to-face and online modes as separate, some educators strongly emphasized the importance of combining the two. As E04 said: "I think, for the connection of face-to-face and online, depending on the personality, both would be useful." Several educators pointed out that this connection should be carefully designed, with one educator suggesting that "the online should mirror the face-to-face, whereby I am able to see that somebody is not understanding" (E12).

To summarize this part of the results regarding interaction and the influence of students on educators' pedagogical choices and teaching practices, E03 stated that the engagement of students, whether in online or face-to-face settings, is crucial in shaping an educator's motivation to implement blended learning:

If the students are engaging, they're asking questions, it motivates you to even do more for them. But when they are quiet, it's very demotivating. I think if we can structure the blended learning well, you'd be able to reach all your learners and your learners would be able to reach you."

Awareness

The awareness of students regarding blended learning is a crucial factor in the successful implementation of a blended learning environment. Several educators highlighted this as a key issue, emphasizing the need for students to be more actively engaged in their learning process. E21 pointed out that student participation in the online learning environment can be frustrating due to a lack of interest: "I know that these students, they use their phones a lot. But why is it that when it comes to phones for education, they cannot use it? So, we may need to create that broad awareness."

This awareness is necessary to "inform the students about the importance of also learning online as well as working physically (face-to-face)" (E05). The same educator also noted that "even as lecturers, some of us are not informed," suggesting that awareness should be cultivated not only among students but also among educators themselves.

Raising awareness goes beyond introducing students to the blended learning structure, it also involves helping them understand the broader purpose of education. This connects directly to issues of motivation and participation. As E03 observed: "Most of the students do not understand what blended learning is all about. And I think it's because of the age and the need. They do it to get the paper, not the knowledge."

Al use

The use of AI is rapidly emerging, and for students in particular, it presents a highly interesting and helpful tool to support their academic lives. Some educators noted that modern students are increasingly turning to AI to enhance their classroom engagement and, more significantly, to improve their performance in assessments at the end of each semester. It happens as fast as "giving an assignment, then within that instant, they've turned to AI, and they've gotten everything they've extracted from AI, and then that's exactly what they present" (E11).

Educators expressed concern that students are using AI to such an extent that they begin to take advantage of the system. This, as E15 pointed out, can become very difficult:

The students are now taking advantage of having an examen, and just have ChatGPT and they give you everything, whilst not even reading what it gave them. So those are some of the things that are missing and making the blended learning, especially in the area of assessment, a little difficult.

Therefore, E20 suggested a potential solution, proposing that the university "needs to be able to put a software that can detect how much of the percentage of ChatGPT is in the answers." The broader issues surrounding AI use are, for some educators, closely tied to the use of

mobile phones. E09 emphasized that the root of the problem often lies in phone usage: "The students go to class maybe with cell phones, they go to exams with cell phones, and they want to use those cell phones to steal exams, to cheat."

Blended environment

As the two previous chapters revealed, the first factor shaping educators' perceptions of blended learning was their own views and experiences, followed by the influence of their students. Now, a third actor comes into play: the space in which the users (educators and students) operate, namely the blended environment itself.

This third actor also appeared to be significant according to most educators, as it influences their perceptions of blended learning and, in turn, is shaped by those perceptions. Together, these three actors (educators, students, and the environment) ultimately shape the pedagogical choices educators make and their teaching practices (the interconnection that will be explored in the following chapter).

Physical infrastructure

As already mentioned in the section on *Disadvantages*, the scarcity of equipment at JOOUST, due both to the local context of power fluctuations and the broader (inter)national challenges of durable investments, seemed to make it difficult for some educators to fully contribute during their online courses while at the university. In essence, for them to be able to provide decent online courses, "electricity should be stable" (E07).

Furthermore, several educators pointed out that even for physical courses, the infrastructure at the university sometimes poses challenges, such as a shortage of venues: "When you walk around, we don't have a lot of classes, rooms are scarce, seats are a problem" (E08).

However, given the flexibility of blended learning, educators no longer have to be "100% dependent on venues, physical venues," which "could be a challenge" (E07). In this way, blended learning could actually serve as a middle ground, offering a practical solution to some of the infrastructural constraints faced at JOOUST.

Online platforms

When asked about the online platforms they use, the educators at JOOUST appeared quite resourceful, referring to a range of learning management systems such as Google Meet, Zoom, Moodle, and KENET. Beyond these basic educational tools, some educators also utilized non-educational platforms, such as WhatsApp. E16, for instance, created communication groups where "students may remind [the educator] of things." However, he still

encouraged students "to ask questions through the blended e-learning system, because it has the ability to restore that information for a very long time." This approach aligns with the guidelines provided by the Centre for E-Learning (CfEL) at the university, as E08 explained: "There's a lot of incentives from management, and management has been encouraging through the CfEL for lecturers to develop courses and upload them on Moodle."

Despite this progress, some educators remained sceptical about the suitability of these 'learning management systems' for educational purposes. E13, for example, argued that "the software we use for meetings, like Zoom, Google Meet, all this, they are not meant for learning." This sentiment was particularly shared by educators from the School of Engineering and Technology, who pointed out that such tools were "[meant] for communication [studies]" (E13). Consequently, some educators sought to make their teaching "a bit livelier and more interesting than those presentation modes" (E04).

Nevertheless, as E16 already indicated, the e-learning platform provided by CfEL was positively received by several educators, especially as an integral part of the blended learning environment. E14, for example, appreciated its convenience:

It's so easy in terms of sharing with students some of the points that we have shared in class. Because, previously, you probably wanted to print them out, but now, once the class is done, even the same slides you've used in a physical course, you just PDF them, and then you go on your e-platform, and you upload them there.

E03 was also enthusiastic about the platform, particularly because it complemented her teaching method: "When a question is posted on the forum, the community will help you, the fellow students can help you." She further concluded: "With blended learning, it is easy because they're not coming all at once. They're asking questions at different times. You can go to the forum, and from its engagement, you can know what is missing and where they are."

However, despite the existence of these platforms and the efforts made by educators, it is important to recognize that the local context poses significant challenges for students. Many students struggle with online access because they cannot afford the necessary gadgets, have to share a single device among several users, or, as E06 pointed out, "have never interacted with the IT gadgets properly."

Pedagogical choices and teaching practices

The fourth theme, 'pedagogical choices and teaching practices', is primarily shaped by the three themes discussed above. While these serve as the main influencing factors, several additional topics emerged that also directly impact how educators make pedagogical decisions and implement blended learning in practice. A few of these will be discussed in the following section.

Confidence in designing BL

In In general, a large majority of the participants expressed strong to extremely high confidence in designing a blended learning course. As E05 simply put it: "I'm confident. I don't have any problem with that." This confidence is largely attributed to the specific training educators receive in navigating online platforms and designing blended learning environments. "Yeah, we feel confident because there's a training. The Centre for E-learning carries out training every now and then, which has helped a lot for the educators. So, they're all trained on how to develop course content" (E08).

Another factor contributing to this confidence is hands-on experience with digital tools. "I'm 100% confident, because I've interacted with the tools" (E09). This practical experience enables educators to better understand what works for their students and tailor their course content accordingly: "Because I've experienced it, I know what works and what helps me. So, I try to incorporate that into the development of the course, to try as much as possible to engage that learner with this content that I'm creating" (E03).

Confidence also seems to grow with increased use of the platform. As E14 noted: "As you become more confident, then you can now begin discussions, you can bring all the interactives that are there on the platform."

However, despite the generally high levels of confidence, a few educators expressed uncertainty. One reason for this may be that blended learning isn't always suited to their specific teaching context. As E13 explained, this approach may not apply equally well to those not teaching a "standard online course." Others say that they are not fully confident, because "there is need to engage with the process of learning that process, and coming up with what we need to use so that we can make blended learning more effective" (E15).

Overall, E07 captured the general sentiment well: "I feel confident, because the challenges that are there can be overcome. And the merits outweigh the challenges."

Freedom to choice type

Another important factor that directly influences educators' pedagogical choices and teaching practices in the context of blended learning is the extent to which they feel free to implement it in their courses. Generally, most educators reported feeling a strong sense of autonomy in choosing their teaching methods. There are no restrictions imposed by authorities regarding the choice of instructional approach. As one educator stated: "I have 100% freedom. No limitations, zero limitations. I do what I want with the system" (E16).

The presence of this freedom is in itself significant: "The fact that there is a choice is important" (E17). This autonomy allows educators to design their blended learning courses in ways that align with their teaching goals and are best suited to the needs of their students:

The policy allows that the mode of learning would be blended. So with the policy in place allowing us to do blended learning, then I'll decide at my own discretion as a lecturer, when to do physical, when to do online, whether to do entirely online, to do entirely physical (E01).

Although most educators stated that they have full freedom in designing their blended learning courses, several also pointed out that freedom is not solely defined by the absence of restrictions from institutional authorities. As E11 explained: "So even if you are free, there are still some other factors that affect your freedom."

For some, this freedom is shaped by the students themselves. As E09 put it: "My freedom is now dictated by the people that I'm teaching, by the students." Another educator also emphasized that their flexibility is constrained by the realities and challenges faced by learners: "What is stopping me from really embracing the online thing is the problems that the students have" (E05).

In addition, a few participants expressed concerns about intellectual ownership, noting that the sense of freedom can also be affected by copyright-related issues: "You can feel free to do it, but when you design one, it's like you lose your intellectual property to it" (E11).

In summary, while institutional policy may allow for freedom in teaching methods, this autonomy is often shaped by other influencing factors, primarily the students and, to a lesser extent, structural or legal constraints. E15 captured this balance well, taking into account the range of factors that ultimately determine how much freedom an educator really has:

It is not questioned by the university as to whether you are doing what needs to be done. So it is open for the lecturers to decide whether to have online or physical classes, depending on how you agree with the students.

Course topics

The course topic of certain classes also influences educators' pedagogical choices and teaching practices regarding blended learning. Some course topics are best suited for face-to-face teaching, while others are more appropriate for online delivery. A recurrent response across the interviews was that face-to-face teaching is essential for courses with a strong practical component. As E10 explained: "It simply means that if it is practical, I can't do online, I usually have to go physically." Similarly, E07 emphasized: "If you are teaching courses that require hands-on, it would be better you do it physically."

Beyond the practical nature of some subjects, a few educators also noted the importance of face-to-face interaction at the beginning of a course to build familiarity and connection with students: "We do have physical at the beginning of the introductory part of the class. So that we get to know one another" (E12).

In contrast, online teaching was seen as better suited for courses that are easier or primarily theoretical. As E04 pointed out: "When it's just introduction of subjects; these theoretical aspects you can cover online. The concepts that are not very deep and rigorous can be done that way."

Way forward

The way forward was a topic discussed in all the interviews. This includes what is needed within the blended learning environment to work toward a better future for both educators and students. Topics such as policy, required skills, and potential solutions will be discussed in the following chapter.

Policy

Policy is seen as one of the key drivers for creating a positive future for blended learning. Currently, educators expressed concerns not about the absence of policies, but about the general attitude towards following them. As E03 explained: "You know, we have policies that we generally don't follow. They're just there to show that we have a policy for this. But if we can follow these policies and have structures in place on how to do this blended learning, I think it can work very well." This educator emphasized that if policies were properly respected and implemented, they could significantly contribute to the success of blended learning.

With the right policies in place, blended learning could better accommodate different types of courses. As E20 pointed out, there is a need for more comprehensive and inclusive guidelines:

I think blended learning must have very clear guidelines on how it should be conducted. We have some guidelines, all right, but those guidelines do not lay emphasis on practically orientated subjects. It only lays emphasis on examination process.

Skills needed for blended learning

For blended learning to be successfully implemented in the future, certain skills are essential. Throughout the interviews, educators identified several key skills they believe are important to possess when designing and teaching blended learning courses.

First of all, "communication skills" (E01) were highlighted as crucial due to the different ways communication occurs within a blended learning environment. Beyond communication, educators also emphasized the importance of originality and creativity in this process. Creativity can have a broad meaning. For instance, it can involve finding practical solutions to technological challenges: "Sometimes I tether my phone's internet with the university ethernet together or the same gadget so that if one goes off, this other one continues" (E02). Creativity can also shape the way educators present their courses: "As a teacher, you need to lead the learners to be creative by the activities you have given them to undertake" (E17).

In addition, skills such as open-mindedness, research capabilities, and strong pedagogical skills were frequently mentioned. For example, pedagogical competencies like "curriculum development skills and course design skills" (E12) were considered important. This is essential because, as one educator explained, "you need to design them in a given way, so that you're able to break the materials in small pieces, but also complete, so that students can learn in bits" (E14).

Finally, these skills must be supported by solid subject knowledge. Educators stressed that in order to apply effective design and teaching strategies, it is necessary to "master the subject well and, reflecting on what you want to do, you just sit down and plan your course first before you start teaching" (E21).

One skill, and arguably the most important one mentioned by almost all educators, are IT skills. A blended learning environment requires educators to possess at least a basic level of "computer literacy" (E07) and "internet navigation skills" (E04).

Reassuringly, achieving a basic IT level does not seem to demand extensive effort, as one educator mentioned: "It just takes a few steps and you are there" (E18).

In relation to IT skills, several educators also emphasized the value of video-making skills to enhance the blended learning experience. As E10 described: "You would like to have the PowerPoints and you're explaining. And the student can see the PowerPoint, hear you explain it."

Solutions for blended

When asked about possible factors that could contribute to the success of blended learning, many educators pointed back to the challenges and disadvantages already discussed. Issues such as the "availability of Wi-Fi" (E16) and the need to "invest heavily in technology" (E16) were repeated several times. Solutions were also proposed to address the financial barriers faced by students, particularly the costs associated with purchasing internet bundles. E10 suggested that "the university should give an extra amount for the students to buy bundles," while E08 recalled that during the COVID-19 period, the university "negotiated with the telecom companies, the guys who provide internet services, and they offered students bundles at discounted prices. It worked."

Other solutions focused on tackling the lack of student participation, a problem that directly influences educators' motivation and perceptions of blended learning. One approach to this challenge involved designing "very interactive classes that can hold the focus of the students so that they don't do other things. Maybe also a way of finding out whether these people are active or not" (E12). Some educators linked the problem to a broader decline in student discipline and attitude: "I think that key is that there's need for student discipline" (E18).

A suggested solution was "about creating awareness" (E21) and working to change the attitudes of both students and educators toward blended learning. As E14 put it: "So, for blended learning, I think what would lead to success is actually many people's attitude towards it, because, when I embraced it, immediately it came." Another straightforward strategy shared by one educator involved grading participation: "I always tell them, they get 10% for class participation. So if by the end of the semester, I don't know your name, you've never talked, minus 10" (E10).

Beyond addressing participation, some general solutions were proposed to foster a more successful blended learning environment. One educator suggested that building a better understanding of blended learning requires you to "exchange ideas with other people and get a community of practice" (E21).

Training blended

One important topic that many educators emphasized was the need for training. Although training is closely linked to the previously discussed solutions, it is treated separately here because it was a recurring theme throughout almost all of the interviews.

Educators strongly believed that structured training programs are essential for both lecturers and students. As E05 explained: "The management should have programs of kind of training to even to train lecturers on how to use the platforms, to communicate, to send notes, to even set cards. I mean also to train the students on how to use the same platforms."

The belief in the necessity of training is clearly present among the educators, and importantly, it has already been partially implemented. Many participants reported that the training they received significantly boosted their confidence in designing and delivering blended learning courses. As E11 stated: "We've gone through some trainings which have given us some confidence in how you can go about it. So it's possible to design, to come up with an online class, an online course."

Virtual reality

The future of blended learning may be bright, with some educators envisioning a virtual reality environment where the online setting perfectly mirrors the face-to-face experience, allowing for an effortless switch between the two. Several educators expressed the desire for students who are learning remotely to feel fully immersed, as if they were physically present. As E07 explained, the goal is for "those who are far away, who are doing it virtually, to also feel like it's almost like real," a concept referred to as virtual reality. E13 described it as follows:

It should be like we need to remove all things that we have, physical things, into a virtual space. For example, when we walk 'outside', this is a laboratory called this, this one is called this, this is called this. But can we create a virtual space of departments?

Perfect situation

To conclude the interviews, educators were asked to describe how their ideal blended learning environment would look in practice. This question aimed to capture a broad view of how educators believe face-to-face learning, online learning, and additional aspects should seamlessly work together.

One of the first ideal situations mentioned ties back to the concept discussed just above: the creation of a virtual reality environment, where online teaching mirrors face-to-face teaching so closely that the transition between the two feels effortless.

Another vision for an ideal blended learning setup, raised by several educators, involved the creation of specific spaces referred to as "smart offices" (E08). These would be designated areas where students could gather to follow classes, whether online or physical, reinforcing the idea of mirroring the face-to-face environment. These smart offices were described as "regulated zones, where students actually log into those zones and they're not just doing what they want wherever they want" (E04).

Additionally, these zones could be supported by an assistant who monitors student behaviour, which E04 phrased as follows:

An ideal blended learning environment is where I maybe have an online assistant just tracking students' concentration, tracking their input in class, tracking their participation the way we do with the elementary school. I think an environment where you have the teacher, but you also have an assistant who is doing the personality management.

The educators not only shared their visions for the infrastructure of an ideal blended learning environment, but also reflected on how the frequency and interplay between online and face-to-face courses could be organized in a perfect scenario. Many educators believed that, ideally, introductory classes should be delivered face-to-face, followed by subsequent sessions conducted online:

So that best method is whereby the introduction of the course, we have physical for purposes of knowing one another, knowing people's interest, knowing background. And then going forward, we do online (E12).

This combination was emphasized by several educators who believed it is important to maintain occasional face-to-face contact, while still prioritizing online classes. As E21 explained: "Because then when you get to know them, you get to introduce everything. Then maybe I skip two to do online classes and I do another physical one. Then another two online and then again, another physical."

And of course, the ideal blended learning situation would also require "where internet connectivity is perfect and everybody has full access to the internet" (E18). One possible solution to achieve this, as suggested by E09, is through "North B, which is a program that was meant to power all universities and all secondary schools with free internet."

Ultimately, as E03 indicated, educators were focused on providing the best possible experience for their students in order to help them thrive within the blended learning environment.

An environment that centres on the student. That the learning would be able to adapt to that individual student. So, if it is an environment that can tell me the capability of the student and where the student is and how behind they are, and I can be able to adapt my content to that student to be able to engage.

Discussion

This chapter reflects on the main findings of the study and connects them to existing literature. The interviews with educators at JOOUST revealed several important insights about their beliefs, practices, and experiences with blended learning.

First, while many educators expressed beliefs that align with social constructivist learning theories, translating these beliefs into actual classroom practice often proves challenging. Second, educators articulated the practical advantages of blended learning, such as flexibility, more explicitly than its pedagogical benefits, which were often implied rather than directly stated. Third, despite existing challenges, most educators held a positive attitude toward the future of blended learning at JOOUST. Fourth, the study found that students play a significant role in shaping educators' beliefs, often prompting reflection or adaptation of teaching strategies. Fifth, infrastructural and institutional limitations were reported to negatively affect educators' sense of autonomy and their ability to implement blended learning according to their pedagogical ideals. Finally, they underscored that blended learning at the classroom level must go beyond simply combining online and face-to-face elements: it calls for intentional integration and targeted professional development.

The discussion that follows will explore each of these themes in light of relevant literature. The chapter concludes by reflecting on the limitations of the study and offering suggestions for future research.

Social constructivists at JOOUST: from beliefs to practice

Most of the educators interviewed emphasized the importance of pragmatism and student-centred learning, an approach closely aligned with the social constructivist learning theory (Engels, 2024). Several key aspects of this theory were reflected in their responses: (1) learning through experience was highlighted by one educator who asked, "I know the theories in management and all that, but then how do we apply them in real world?" (E16); (2) situated learning appeared in references to "using different sources" (E09) and "solving challenges within the community" (E15); (3) meaningful learning emerged in the idea that "a student should be able to get out of himself what he really wants out of himself" (E11); (4) cooperative learning was linked to "fairness" (E11) and "an all-inclusive education approach" (E18); (5) self-directed learning was noted in the belief that "the learner has something that he knows,

and we start from that and build on it" (E17); and (6) the educator's role as a supporter was captured in the aim of "empowering the students to achieve their full potential in life" (E12), as well as a facilitator of the blended learning environment that "becomes a two-way platform" including "a participatory teaching approach" (E19).

Although almost all educators valued something in their teaching that can be associated with the social constructivist leaning theory, be it directly or indirectly, only few of them mentioned how blended learning is related to their general teaching philosophy. But above all, about this philosophy, E20 was not sure if the educators really apply it, though they may be valuing it: "We need to have more student-centred learning, with a lot of support from the lecturers. And this will make also practical approaches, other than just theoretical work. Most of our teaching in the universities tend to be very theoretical." So, although several educators at JOOUST articulated beliefs aligned with social constructivist learning theories, these beliefs would not always be consistently translated into their actual teaching practices. This phenomenon has also been noted in broader educational research, where contextual constraints often hinder the application of teachers' espoused beliefs in practice (Fang, 1996).

Explicit practical advantages and implicit pedagogical advantages

Interestingly, one of the educators from the School of Education (SEHSS) (E17) was able to explicitly link the importance of blended learning to his general teaching philosophy. He explained that blended learning "will help [students] to construct the ideas within themselves because they can look for the information. They don't depend on the teacher as the source of knowledge." He further emphasized that "both the online and the physical environment need to be made [use of]," and stressed the importance of "leading learners to be creative by the activities you have given them to undertake."

This perspective highlights the potential of blended learning as a learning environment that promotes student creativity, autonomy, and active engagement, which are just some of the key principles of the social constructivist learning theory. Previous research has similarly emphasized that blended learning environments foster critical thinking, creativity, and deeper student-centered learning by encouraging learners to take greater responsibility for constructing their own understanding (Garrison & Vaughan, 2007).

The example of E17 suggests that blended learning has the potential to align closely with the pedagogical beliefs that many educators at JOOUST seem to implicitly hold. However, the majority of educators primarily highlighted the practical efficiencies of blended learning, rather than its pedagogical advantages. This observation points to a broader challenge: while educators may hold constructivist beliefs about learning, translating these beliefs into consistent teaching practices within blended learning environments can be difficult.

Indeed, most educators, be it directly or indirectly, mentioned at least one of the following three arguments that all point to the 'mere' practical efficiency of blended learning in terms of optimizing the use of time and space: higher flexibility, greater convenience, and the reduction in (transportation) costs.

This tendency to emphasize practical advantages over pedagogical ones may also be influenced by the dual professional roles educators fulfil as both teachers and researchers. Given the competing demands of research productivity and teaching responsibilities, blended learning's efficiency in terms of time and space management becomes particularly attractive.

Still, and partly because of the flexibility the blended learning environment entails, several educators revealed that it offers greater inclusivity too. This idea of inclusivity not only applies to the learner's pace, but also to the learner's personality: the more extravert students may thrive during the physical classes, while shier students would prefer the online forum since "behind the screen, they can ask any question". Blended learning is, in that sense, a good way to listen to the learner's social needs, providing better learning outcomes too (D. Garrison & Kanuka, 2004).

By referring to the idea of more inclusivity, through blended learning, the educators actually did mention a pedagogical benefit of the blended learning environment in particular, which may be lacking for just online learning, or just physical learning. Since the blended learning environment provides a platform that allows people to learn at "different capabilities" (E03), some educators seem to (indirectly) make use of the strength of the 'pedagogical complementarity' of blended learning: they differentiate the learner space, and eventually adjust their course design and method of teaching to what the learner space, be it physical or online, has to offer to both the educator and the students. E10 stated it as followed: "I would definitely make sure I have my more practical oriented and difficult-to-understand topics face-to-face and then the easy introductory ones would be online."

These educators, as was also argued in the study of Todd (2020), thus recognize that merely transferring their planned face-to-face instruction into an online format is insufficient for effectively promoting student learning.

In conclusion, though educators mostly don't have the pedagogical background as 'regular teachers', most of them (be it indirectly) gave away some key pedagogical benefits of blended learning, like greater inclusivity promoting better learning outcomes, or the method of teaching that can be (easily) adjusted to what the learner space has to offer. Still, it is crucial to note that educators are indeed not 'regular teachers', but also researchers and employees of an institution, meaning that the aforementioned practical advantages are to be considered important to them.

Blended learning: from constraint to convenience?

The practical advantages, as discussed above, also seem to be outweighing the practical constraints (which will be discussed later on) at the university, since most educators had very positive attitudes toward (the evolution of) blended learning. They usually argued that "if policy and (infra)structure would be in place, blended learning could work very well" (E03).

According to the study of Mutisya and Makokha (2016), all seven public Kenyan universities that were included in the research ranked heavy workloads the most serious challenge affecting the adoption of e-learning. Although our research has been conducted almost a decade later (2025), none of the lecturers who were interviewed at JOOUST mentioned that heavy workload is the most serious challenge. In fact, most of them argued that e-learning provided more flexibility and greater convenience. E20 said that "I would prefer to have it online. And this is personal, because of the administrative work. Otherwise, you won't be able to cover your courses in time." And E21 even stated that "the advantage is that I do less of the work. The students do more of the work."

From this discrepancy between our findings and prior literature, two interpretations can be drawn: First, we could argue that over the past 9 years, educators have become more comfortable and confident with e-learning tools: on the one hand, since Mutisya & Makokha's study (2016) was conducted before COVID-19, it's likely that the pandemic acted as a catalyst for digital skill development and system-wide exposure to blended and online teaching. And on the other hand, many educators in our study expressed high confidence in using blended learning tools, which could also suggest a shift over time, not only in training (from the CfEL) but in familiarity and institutional support structures (even if imperfect).

But second, we could also argue that workload is actually still an issue, just implicitly acknowledged. Put differently, we don't want to overlook the possibility that the practical benefits educators emphasized, such as flexibility and time efficiency, may be valued precisely because of ongoing workload pressures, even if these were not explicitly mentioned in the interviews.

The importance of interaction and the educator-student relationship

While conducting the interviews, it quickly became clear that all educators consistently referred to their students as central to shaping their beliefs, perceptions, and pedagogical decisions. It is therefore worth highlighting this, as students have a direct and meaningful influence on educators. After all, students are the reason educators teach, this relationship is what drives their professional purpose. As several participants expressed, it is the interaction with students that motivates them to show up for work every day.

Although some interviewees spoke positively about the potential for meaningful interaction in an online environment, most still insisted that "face to face is the best" (E07) when it comes to interaction. This reflects a broader perception that the more traditional, inperson approach to teaching continues to hold significant value. Many educators suggested that their full role as an educator, not just as a content-deliverer, but as a mentor and guide, can only be fulfilled through face-to-face engagement.

These deeper educator roles appear to be closely tied to the motivational aspects of teaching, which may help explain why many educators still prefer face-to-face instruction when it comes to student interaction. This mode of teaching provides them with the human dimension of being an educator. Echoing these sentiments, Edginton and Holbrook (2010, p.7) found that face-to-face interaction "seems to be the greatest strength of blended formats over fully online courses."

That said, several educators recognized the need to replicate meaningful interaction within online environments. Rather than teaching to a "black screen," they stressed the importance of creating engaging, interactive experiences. As E17 stated: "Because in teaching there must be interaction. So you must also be smart in designing how the online learning will take place with interaction." Some educators spoke about actively working to make their online classes more engaging in order to foster interaction in the best possible way. Culbertson (2018) supports this notion, suggesting that the inclusion of games and interactive tasks in blended learning courses can enhance student participation and interaction, making the online environment more dynamic and inclusive.

This emphasis on interaction can be directly linked to one of the core components of Self-Determination Theory (Ryan & Deci, 1985). The third key factor of the theory, which is relatedness, suggests that the sense of connection and belonging plays a critical role in fostering intrinsic motivation. In this context, an educator's desire to relate to students, not merely as a teacher, but as an educator, can positively influence their motivation to teach.

The findings of this study support earlier research, such as Stacey and Gerbic (2008), who concluded that educators' interaction with students contributes significantly to the successful implementation of blended learning in practice. This motivation is not only about choosing blended learning over purely online teaching, but also about maintaining the overall drive to teach in meaningful, engaging ways.

It is about preserving the authenticity of frequent face-to-face teaching to foster strong student interaction, while using the online environment, through occasional online classes and digital platforms, as a powerful extension of the classroom. In doing so, educators are able to create a blended learning environment that balances the immediacy and relational strength of

in-person interaction with the flexibility and reach of digital tools, ultimately supporting both student engagement and their own professional satisfaction.

Closely related to the topic of participation is the overall awareness that needs to be cultivated, not only among students but also among educators. A lack of awareness currently presents a barrier to more effective participation in blended learning courses. Both groups must recognize the purpose and potential of this instructional approach in order to benefit fully from it. Several educators stressed the need for improvement in this area. As E03 pointed out, students today often seem to study primarily for the certificate rather than for genuine knowledge. According to this educator, students increasingly rely on tools like ChatGPT during assessments to obtain high grades, while avoiding meaningful participation in class. For educators, this behaviour can be deeply demotivating.

To address this, a blended learning environment must be developed where awareness about the purpose and value of studying is made central, an environment in which both the online and face-to-face components reflect and reinforce this goal. Increasing awareness in this way can also enhance competence, one of the three core components of Self-Determination Theory. Research supports this connection. As Ibrahim and Nat (2019) demonstrated, educators' awareness of and attitude toward blended learning are significant motivators in its successful implementation. When students and educators alike understand what they are studying or teaching for, competence and knowledge are more likely to increase. At present, this sense of purpose is often lacking, and as a result, educators may feel less motivated to embrace and implement blended learning, simply because they are not fully aware of the benefits it can offer.

SDT-theory as a bridge between beliefs and practice

As outlined in the results, everything ultimately comes down to the pedagogical choices and teaching practices of the educator. These are shaped by a combination of their beliefs and attitudes, the influence of students, and the blended infrastructure in which they operate. The bridge between these factors and the choices educators make is motivation, specifically, how motivated they are to translate their beliefs into practice. This intrinsic motivation, as defined by Ryan and Deci (1985), is determined by three key components: autonomy, or the extent to which educators feel free to implement blended learning; competence, or the confidence and skills they possess to do so effectively; and relatedness, or the quality of their connection and interaction with students in a blended learning environment. As mentioned previously, relatedness plays a significant role in shaping educators' pedagogical choices and teaching practices. Understanding how autonomy and competence similarly influence these decisions

is essential to gaining a complete picture of what drives educators to implement blended learning successfully.

The competence of educators has been thoroughly explored in this study, encompassing factors such as confidence, training, and overall skillset. It can be concluded that many educators feel confident in designing and implementing a blended learning environment. For most, this confidence stems largely from having received specific training in blended learning. Several educators emphasized that such training is essential for both designing effective blended learning courses and feeling prepared to teach them. As E16 put it: "So when all the staff are trained and they understand and they know what they're getting out of this, it becomes a beautiful thing."

This finding is supported by previous research. Porter et al. (2014) demonstrated that technological and pedagogical training is critical in facilitating the transition to an online or blended environment. Similarly, Ibrahim and Nat (2019) concluded that such training increases educators' motivation to implement blended learning in their courses and enables them to adapt their teaching practices more effectively.

The skills acquired through blended learning training are primarily technological, though pedagogical competencies also receive some attention. These technological skills, often referred to as IT skills, were the most frequently mentioned when educators were asked what is required to design an effective blended learning course. Training plays a vital role in enhancing these skills, helping educators become both more competent and confident in designing and delivering blended learning experiences. As E02 clearly stated: "For this environment to be effective, you must be IT compliant".

This study confirms that training in blended learning, and the development of relevant skills, is essential. As also confirmed in previous research by Davis and Fill (2007), an increase in competence leads to higher levels of motivation, which in turn contributes to a more successful implementation of blended learning in teaching practices.

Furthermore, the extent to which educators can shape their own blended learning practice represents an important third component of the Self-Determination Theory (SDT) model, autonomy, which significantly influences intrinsic motivation. This concept serves as the third key link between educators' beliefs and their actual teaching practices. Autonomy refers to the freedom educators have to design and implement blended learning in a way that aligns with their pedagogical values. The question arises: to what extent are educators truly able to make these choices, and how does this affect their motivation to implement them in practice?

On the surface, educators at JOOUST reported having the freedom to choose their preferred teaching methods. They are generally able to design their (blended) courses as they

see fit, with no formal restrictions imposed. However, as E11 insightfully noted: "Even if you are free, there are still some other factors that affect your freedom." This suggests that while institutional autonomy may exist in theory, practical or contextual constraints can still limit the educators' ability to fully exercise this freedom.

We can call them the limiting factors or disadvantages that influence the educators' willingness or motivation to fully commit during a blended learning course, or even design one, as one of the educators (E03) argued that some of her colleagues would sometimes be "shying away" from it, because of the lack of infrastructure. As argued by Buchanan et al. (2013), "if a university wishes to increase use of learning technologies, it is not enough to train and encourage faculty: adequate investments must be made in technical infrastructure and support for those activities."

This aligns with the main concerns mentioned by almost all educators, which are poor internet connectivity, financial problems (or investments), and lack of equipment. All three of them are closely linked to one another, and all come down to (the lack of) infrastructure and institutional support, highly influencing the educators' choice to design a blended learning environment. Not only at JOOUST, but at other institutions too, "decisions regarding infrastructure and institutional support are vital motivators among instructors towards BL practice" (Ibrahim & Nat, 2019): while technological readiness promotes BL practices, the absence of it discourages it.

Besides the (infra)structural and institutional constraints, fear of copyright infringement also seemed to influence the educators' willingness to design blended learning courses, regarding both their own work and the work of the students. Also in the study conducted by Mutisya and Makokha (2016), "fear of denial of copyright was ranked the third most serious challenge impeding the adoption of e-learning in public universities", since "universities denied copyrights [of the educators] for the modules that they wrote and uploaded on the e-learning platforms".

Lastly, and specifically for the School of Engin and Technology (SET), some online platforms are not compatible with the teaching method. This is also argued in the study of Sánchez-Gómez et al. (2019) regarding the engineering and architecture teachers, since they "demand better institutional policies, support in infrastructure and training".

It could be argued that, although educators are free to implement blended learning the way they want, there are some factors that can't be unseen, that indirectly affect their freedom and therefore their autonomy. Autonomy, as being part one of the components of intrinsic motivation, is affected in a more negative, than positive way and therefore restricting the educators to implement blended learning in their course.

BL in the classroom requires intentional integration and professional development

Then, whilst educators are indeed employees of an institution, thereby holding beliefs about blended learning at the institutional level, they are also lecturers, meaning that they also hold beliefs about blended learning in the classroom, and what practice could or should look like. As already mentioned, some educators clearly uncovered how they make use of the blended learning environment in such a way that both physical and online are complementary to one another. E15, for example, argued that you need to "find out where it would be best to have it online, and where it would be necessary to have it physical", meaning that one is not merely a substitution of the other.

While this perspective of E15 reflects a thoughtful, context-sensitive approach to instructional design, it also suggests that the online and face-to-face components are viewed as separate and somehow interchangeable. However, effective blended learning requires more than just combining modes of delivery, it involves the intentional integration of online and in-person elements to create a cohesive and enriched learning experience. As Garrison and Vaughan (2007) argue, blended learning is not merely the sum of its parts, but a unified design in which the whole is greater than the sum of the individual components.

In essence, when online and face-to-face elements are strategically aligned around shared learning goals, the blended environment can foster deeper engagement, critical thinking, and active learning in ways that neither mode can achieve alone.

In reflecting on their own roles in blended learning environments, several educators emphasized the importance of developing a broad set of skills, including creativity, communication, pedagogical expertise, and digital literacy. These competencies align with what Garrison and Vaughan (2007) describe as essential for fostering meaningful learning experiences in blended contexts, where teaching is no longer limited to content delivery but requires active facilitation across modalities. Similarly, Rapanta et al. (2020) highlight that successful blended teaching depends on educators' ability to design interactive learning activities, communicate effectively both online and offline, and adapt to evolving technological demands. As blended learning continues to evolve in higher education, particularly in resource-constrained contexts, it becomes crucial to invest in ongoing professional development that equips educators not only with technical skills but also with the pedagogical confidence to use blended learning creatively and purposefully.

Future perspectives for blended learning

So, what about the future of blended learning, and specifically in this African context? Well, first of all, policies have to be clear, extensive and certainly followed. Policies are there to support the practice, so it is important that it works as a skeleton for the blended learning

environment. There is need for those guidelines so that everybody can start we a structured view on how blended learning can be applied in classes. As Johnson et al. (2016) reviewed that policy has to be very clear and supportive for blended learning to be successful, which is also proved in this research.

Apart from these policies, previously discussed parts like attitude and infrastructure have to be adapted in a way that a blended learning environment can be created were everybody; institution, educators and students can benefit. With the correct, long term investments in infrastructure and technology, the blended environment will be easier and more effective than ever.

Furthermore, a blended learning environment should be created where educators can interact with the students, in a same efficient manner as it can be face-to-face, with the online tools as a complementary element to the physical environment. As E01 put this nicely:

So, you really need to be able to put that information on the platform in a way in which the students can interact. And then create the discussion forums, create all those for these students to be able to communicate with you.

In this case, the online environment will not only be seen as a replacement or substitutional product, but more as modification of the current environment, where both learning methods perfectly blend together. This statement is drawn upon 'SAMR model for Technology Integration of Dr. Puentedura (2010), which includes four phases of technologic integration: substitution, augmentation, modification and redefinition (Hamilton et al., 2016). If the blended learning environment can go from phase one (substitution) to phase three (modification), in this context, that would mean an effective implementation where everybody benefits.

To conclude this discussion, it can be said that despite its many potential benefits, the implementation of blended learning, particularly within the African context, continues to face significant challenges. This research, along with other studies conducted in Kenya, has highlighted persistent issues such as weak and costly internet connectivity, poor scheduling of classes, ICT breakdowns, difficulties in lecturer-student interaction, lack of digital devices, and an unsupportive learning environment (Ndwiga, Ogeti, & Syomwene, 2024). These barriers hinder the effective adoption of blended learning, creating a gap between institutional and educators' goals and the reality of classroom execution.

Addressing these challenges requires more than just an examination of educators' beliefs. While beliefs are undoubtedly influential, they are not the sole factor affecting the practical implementation of blended learning in Kenya. A broader alignment is needed, one where the physical, digital, and pedagogical elements of the environment work together. The ideal blended learning environment should integrate the strengths of both face-to-face and

online learning while minimizing their respective disadvantages. As E19 succinctly put it, this would mean:

It would be a [blended learning] space where we have adequate infrastructure in terms of the tools for learning, which will have a space where the people that are supposed to participate are actively involved, they have good attitude, which will have a space where people are prepared, we have the adequate materials, that are motivating and captivating to the persons that are involved, and where we have the physical engagement, where we have useful tools that are available in time and are available for everybody.

Limitations and future research

While this study provides valuable insights into educators' beliefs and intrinsic motivation regarding blended learning in the Kenyan higher education context, several limitations must be acknowledged. First, although the research included a relatively large and diverse sample of 21 educators, covering all academic schools within JOOUST, it was limited to a single institution. As such, while internal diversity was ensured, the findings may not fully represent the wider range of beliefs, experiences, or infrastructural realities present across other Kenyan universities or institutions in different African countries. Future research should therefore involve multiple institutions and cross-national comparisons to enhance the generalizability and contextual depth of findings.

Secondly, this study focused solely on educators' perspectives. While this was an intentional design choice, the lack of student voices limits the scope of understanding around blended learning. Educators frequently reflected on student behavior, participation, and challenges, suggesting that students play a central role in shaping the success of blended environments. Future research should incorporate students' perspectives to provide a more comprehensive and balanced view of the factors influencing blended learning effectiveness.

Furthermore, although the interviews were conducted in a neutral and open-ended manner, the researchers began the study with a specific interest in exploring the link between educators' beliefs and their motivation to implement blended learning in practice. While care was taken to avoid bias, it is possible that pre-existing assumptions subtly influenced the interpretation of responses, and therefore increasing the risk of researcher bias.

Finally, as this study was conducted during a time of transition in educational practices following the COVID-19 pandemic, the results reflect beliefs and experiences in a context that is still evolving. Longitudinal studies may help to determine how these beliefs and practices develop over time, particularly as infrastructure, policy, and training initiatives progress.

Conclusion

This study set out to explore educators' beliefs about blended learning in the context of higher education in Kenya, and how these beliefs relate to their intrinsic motivation to implement blended learning in practice. Drawing on Self-Determination Theory (SDT), the findings reveal a complex and interconnected dynamic between belief systems, contextual factors, and motivational drivers.

Educators' beliefs were found to be shaped by a wide range of influences, including their teaching philosophies, perceptions of student engagement, infrastructural realities, and their experiences with blended learning itself. These beliefs, in turn, affected the educators' motivation to implement blended learning, particularly through the lens of SDT's three core components: autonomy, competence, and relatedness. While educators expressed a sense of autonomy in choosing how to deliver their courses, this autonomy was often indirectly constrained by external factors such as technological infrastructure and student involvement. As a result, the autonomy component of motivation, although theoretically present, appeared to be weakened in practice. In contrast, the component of competence emerged as a strong motivational driver. Most educators reported feeling confident and well-equipped to design and deliver blended learning courses, supported by institutional training and hands-on experience with digital tools. This sense of competence played a crucial role in the implementation of blended learning in practice. The component of relatedness yielded mixed results. While faceto-face interaction was consistently associated with strong relational connections, online teaching environments were perceived as less effective in fostering meaningful interaction. Nonetheless, many educators acknowledged the potential of well-structured online platforms and thoughtful course design to significantly enhance online interaction in the future. This suggests that with the right support and pedagogical strategies, relatedness could evolve into a powerful motivator for implementing blended learning.

In conclusion, by addressing constraints on autonomy, reinforcing training for competence, and investing in strategies to enhance online interaction, institutions can help educators move from belief to motivated action in blended learning implementation.

References

- Bruggeman, B., Hidding, K., Struyven, K., Pynoo, B., Garone, A., & Tondeur, J. (2022). Negotiating teacher educators' beliefs about blended learning: Using stimulated recall to explore design choices. Australasian Journal Of Educational Technology, 100–114. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.7175.
- Buchanan, T., Sainter, P., & Saunders, G. (2013). Factors affecting faculty use of learning technologies: implications for models of technology adoption. Journal of Computing in Higher Education, 25(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12528-013-9066-6.
- Calderhead, J. (1981). STIMULATED RECALL: a METHOD FOR RESEARCH ON TEACHING.

 British Journal Of Educational Psychology, 51(2), 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1981.tb02474.x.
- Chen, K., & Jang, S. (2010). Motivation in online learning: Testing a model of self-determination theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(4), 741–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.011.
- Clark, C. M., & Peterson, P. L. (1986). Teachers' thought processes. In M. C. Wittrock (Red.), Handbook on research in teaching (pp. 255–296). New York: Macmillan.
- Cleveland-Innes, M., & Wilton, D. (2018). Guide to Blended Learning. https://doi.org/10.56059/11599/3095.
- Corner, E. J., Murray, E. J., & Brett, S. J. (2019). Qualitative, grounded theory exploration of patients' experience of early mobilisation, rehabilitation and recovery after critical illness. *BMJ Open*, 9(2), e026348. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026348.

- Culbertson, P. & University at Albany, State University of New York. (2018). High school blended learning courses: teacher beliefs, perceptions of experiences, and recommendations. In *Legacy Theses & Dissertations* (2009 2024). https://scholarsarchive.library.albany.edu/legacy-etd/2032.
- Davis, H. C., & Fill, K. (2007). Embedding blended learning in a university's teaching culture: Experiences and reflections. British Journal Of Educational Technology, 38(5), 817–828. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2007.00756.x.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior. In Springer eBooks. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2271-7.
- Edginton, A., & Holbrook, J. (2010). A Blended Learning Approach to Teaching Basic Pharmacokinetics and the Significance of Face-to-Face Interaction. American Journal Of Pharmaceutical Education, 74(5), 88. https://doi.org/10.5688/aj740588.
- Engels, N. (2024). Krachtige leeromgeving, syllabus. MILO, VUB.
- Fang, Z. (1996). A review of research on teacher beliefs and practices. Educational Research, 38(1), 47–65. https://doi.org/10.1080/0013188960380104.
- Fives, H., & Buehl, M. M. (2011). Spring cleaning for the "messy" construct of teachers' beliefs: What are they? Which have been examined? What can they tell us? In *American Psychological Association eBooks* (pp. 471–499). https://doi.org/10.1037/13274-019.

- García-Morales, V. J., Garrido-Moreno, A., & Martín-Rojas, R. (2021). The Transformation of Higher Education After the COVID Disruption: Emerging Challenges in an Online Learning Scenario. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.616059.
- Garrison, D., & Kanuka, H. (2004). Blended learning: Uncovering its transformative potential in higher education. The Internet And Higher Education, 7(2), 95–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2004.02.001.
- Garrison, D. R., & Vaughan, N. D. (2007). Blended learning in higher education. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118269558.
- Graham, C. R. (2006). Blended learning systems: Definition, current trends, and future directions.

 Pfeiffer An Imprint Of Wiley. http://php.indiana.edu/%7Ecjbonk/graham_intro.pdf.
- Graham, C. R. (2018). Current research in blended learning. In Routledge eBooks (pp. 173–188). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315296135-15.
- Hamilton, E. R., Rosenberg, J. M., & Akcaoglu, M. (2016). The Substitution Augmentation Modification Redefinition (SAMR) Model: a Critical Review and Suggestions for its Use. TechTrends, 60(5), 433–441. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0091-y.
- Ibrahim, M. M., & Nat, M. (2019). Blended learning motivation model for instructors in higher education institutions. International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0145-2.

- Johnson, L., Becker, S. A., Cummins, M., Estrada, V., Freeman, A., & Hall, C. (2016). NMC Horizon Report: 2016 Higher Education Edition. The New Media Consortium, 1–50. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/171478/report_171478.pdf.
- Mtebe, J. S., & Raphael, C. (2018). Key factors in learners' satisfaction with the e-learning system at the University of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Australasian Journal of Educational Technology, 34(4). https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.2993.
- Mutisya, D. N., & Makokha, G. L. (2016). Challenges affecting adoption of e-learning in public universities in Kenya. E-Learning and Digital Media, 13(3–4), 140–157. https://doi.org/10.1177/2042753016672902.
- Ndwiga, M. M., Ogeti, K., & Syomwene, A. (2024). Modelling institutional characteristics that influenced implementation of blended learning in public universities in Kenya. British Journal Of Education, Learning And Development Psychology. https://doi.org/10.52589/BJELDP-CXGDO8CI.
- O'Hara, D. (2017). The intrinsic motivation of Richard Ryan and Edward Deci [Dataset]. In PsycEX-TRA Dataset. https://doi.org/10.1037/e508512018-001.
- Omedo V., & Zigira S., & Katushabe R. (2024). E-learning Platforms and Access to Education: A Case Study of Makerere University. Metropolitan Journal Of Science & Technology 3. 724-738. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/385218208.
- Oranga, J., & Matere, A. (2023). Qualitative Research: Essence, Types and Advantages. *OALib*, *10*(12), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4236/oalib.1111001.

- Orsini, C., Evans, P., Binnie, V., Ledezma, P., & Fuentes, F. (2015). Encouraging intrinsic motivation in the clinical setting: teachers' perspectives from the self-determination theory. *European Journal Of Dental Education*, 20(2), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1111/eje.12147.
- Peterson, E. (2007). Incorporating screencasts in online teaching. The International Review Of Research in Open And Distributed Learning, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v8i3.495.
- Postareff, L., Lindblom-Ylänne, S., & Nevgi, A. (2007). The effect of pedagogical training on teaching in higher education. *Teaching And Teacher Education*, 23(5), 557–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.11.013.
- Pulham, E., & Graham, C. R. (2018). Comparing K-12 online and blended teaching competencies: a literature review. Distance Education, 39(3), 411–432. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1476840.
- Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., & Koole, M. (2020). Online university teaching during and after the COVID-19 crisis: Refocusing teacher presence and learning activity. Post-digital Science and Education, 2(3), 923–945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00155-y.
- Rokeach, M. (1969). Beliefs, attitudes, and values: A theory of organization and change. San Francisco: Josey-Bass.
- Sánchez-Gómez, M. C., Martín-García, A. V., & Mena, J. (2019). Teachers' Beliefs towards Blended Learning in Higher Education: A Mixed-Methods Study. In Communications in computer and information science (pp. 177–188). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20798-4_16.

- Skott, J. (2014). The promises, problems, and prospects of research on teachers' beliefs. In Fives, H., & Gill, M., G. (Eds.), International handbook of research on teachers' beliefs. (pp. 13-30). In Routledge eBooks. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203108437.
- Stacey, E., & Gerbic, P. (2008). Success factors for blended learning. ASCILITE Publications, 964–968. https://doi.org/10.14742/apubs.2008.2450.
- Tscholl, D. W., Handschin, L., Rössler, J., Weiss, M., Spahn, D. R., & Nöthiger, C. B. (2019). It's not you, it's the design common problems with patient monitoring reported by anesthesiologists:

 a mixed qualitative and quantitative study. *BMC Anesthesiology*, 19(1).

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12871-019-0757-z.